1982

# State of Utah v. Wendell Irving Hill : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, Wendell Irving Hill, was convicted in a criminal proceeding of one count of Aggravated Burglary, a felony of the first degree, one count of Aggravated Robbery, a felony of the first degree, one count of Theft, a felony of the second degree, and one count of Aggravated Assault, a felony of the third degree, before the Honorable Christine M. Durham, on December 2, 1981, in the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Wendell Irving Hill was tried and convicted of the above counts, and sentence on December 10, 1981, to an indeterminate sentence as provided by law at the Utah State Prison.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment rendered by the Court below, and a new trial, or in the alternative that the case be remanded for resentencing.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts relevant to the issues to be raised on appeal are that on or about October 7, 1981, at the Stratford Hotel located at 169 East 200 South in Salt Lake City, Utah, the apartment of Richard Salamone, manager of the Stratford Hotel, was entered by two men, one of whom was armed with an automatic pistol. Salamone and a guest, John Savage, were subsequently bound. The two men threatened Salamone and Savage; taking money from the manager's desk and personal property belonging to Salamone before leaving the apartment. Approximately five to ten minutes later appellant and co-defendant were stopped in co-defendant Paul Miller's car, some two and one-half to three blocks from the Stratford Hotel. Found in the trunk of the car, upon impound, were all items of personal property reported missing by Salamone. A television set was in possession of appellant in the front seat of the car. At appellant's trial, appellant testified that he had had a prior relationship with Salamone, and that the items taken from the apartment that evening had been won by him from Salamone in a series of card games. Also found in appellant's possession at the time of his arrest was a .20 caliber pistol, which appellant testified that he had also won from Salamone.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND AS  
A MATTER OF LAW THAT THEFT IS A LESSER INCLUDED  
OFFENSE OF AGGRAVATED ROBBERY.

The standard for determining when an offense is a lesser included offense is set out by statute in Section 76-1-402(3)(a), Utah Code Ann. (1953 as amended), which provides:

(3) A defendant may be convicted of an offense included in the offense charged but may not be convicted of both the offense charged and the included offense. An offense is so included when: (a) It is established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to establish the commission of the offense charged. . .

This court set out the requirements for an included offense in State v. Brennan, 371 P.2d 27 (Ut. 1962) as follows:

The rules as to when one offense is included in another is that the greater offense includes a lesser one, when establishment of the greater would necessarily include proof of all of the elements necessary to prove the lesser. Conversely, it is only when the proof of the lesser offense requires some element not involved in the greater offense that the lesser would not be an included offense.

Both theft and robbery are crimes of larceny, both requiring the union of an act with the intent to permanently deprive another of his property by obtaining unauthorized control over it. The common law in this state and in other jurisdictions has long required the presence of "animus furundi," or intent to steal as an essential element of the offenses of theft and



and robbery. People v. Hughes, 39 P. 492 (Ut. 1895); People v. Gallegoes, 2 F 4P.2d 608 (Colo. 1954); State v. Hardin, 406 P.2d 466 (Ariz. 1965); State v. Brighter, 608 P.2d 855 (Haw. 1980); Richardson v. U.S., 403 F.2d 574 (N.C. Cir. 1968).

Professors W. LaFave and A. Scott state the common law as follows:

Robbery consists of all six [common] elements of larceny . . . plus two additional requirements: (1) that the property be taken from the person or presence of the other and (2) that the taking be accomplished by means of force or putting in fear. Handbook on Criminal Law §94 (1972) at 692.

The Utah Supreme Court has recognized the compound nature of robbery in dismissing a verdict of guilty on a conviction of grand larceny where the appellant was also convicted of the crime of robbery. This, on the basis that, the grand larceny charge was a lesser-included offense. State v. Donovan, 294 P. 1108 (1931); State v. Montagne, 474 P.2d 958 (1966).

In the recent case of State v. Potter, 627 P.2d 75 (1981) this court reversed, inter alia, a conviction for aggravated robbery, where the instruction did not adequately state the requirement of specific intent for the offense of aggravated robbery. Justice Stewart's concurring opinion focused on the inadequacy occasioned by the failure of the instructions to reflect the elements of the crime of aggravated robbery; stating:

The instructions were worded in the statutory language, but in this case, that was not sufficient. The instructions do not require the jury to find that the taking which occurs in a robbery must be with the intent to deprive. 627 P.2d at 80.

Justice Stewart further noted that the 1973 amendment to Section 76-6-301, U.C. Ann. (1953), wherein "felonious taking" was changed to an "unlawful and intentional taking:"

. . . did not change that element of the crime requiring an intent to deprive which has always accompanied the crime of robbery. See People v. Hughes 11 Utah 100, 39 P.492 (1895). 627 P.2d at 80.

The Nevada Supreme Court in reversing a conviction of first-degree murder for failure to instruct the jury as to specific intent in a charge of robbery held, in Turner v. State, 605 P.2d 1140 (Nev. 1980):

Although the statute is silent regarding intent, this court has held that the "taking in the crime of robbery must be with the specific intent permanently to deprive the owner of his property." State v. Sala, 63 Nev. 270, 169 P.2d 524 (1946). And, we note that instructions regarding the specific intent required for robbery were given in Brimmage v. State. 93 Nev. 434, 567 P.2d 54 (1977), and Rogers v. State, 83 Nev. 376, 432 P.2d 331 (1967). 605 P.2d at 1141.

During the trial in the instant case, the judge conceded that theft appeared to be a lesser included offense of robbery (T. 199). The trial court, however, found that aggravated robbery does not have the element of intent to deprive the owner (T. 29). On the basis of State v. Potter, supra, and prior case law, appellant contends that this ruling is erroneous.

At trial the prosecution relied on the peculiar treatment of aggravated robbery in as much as Section 76-6-302(3), U.C. Ann. (1953 as amended), is inclusive of an attempt to, commission of, or immediate flight after the attempt or commission of a robbery.

On the face of the statute and in light of State v. Potter, supra, there is nothing in the expansion of the actus rea that changes the mens rea requirement of this crime.

The attempt statute, Section 76-4-101, U.C. Ann. (1953 as amended), requires a person to "[act] with the kind of culpability otherwise required for the commission of the offense." Sub-part (2) of the attempt statute requires that for conduct to constitute a substantial step, it must be strongly corroborative of the actor's intent to commit the offense.

If the actor's conduct does not corroborate an intent to deprive in the aggravated robbery situation, then there is no attempted robbery or theft, but rather evidence of assault or aggravated assault. See State v. Dugan, 608 P.2d, 771 (Ariz. (1980)).

That there is no legislative intent to change the mens rea requirement of aggravated robbery is further illustrated by the retention of the statute under offenses against property, and not offenses against persons.

Appellant does not deny that the enhanced penalty for aggravated robbery is directed at the danger created by the risk of, or actual occurrence of bodily injury, to the victim. Clearly, the definition of "in the course of robbery" is aimed at this risk, to the victim, which is equally great either before, during or following the course of an aggravated robbery. See People v. Wells, 592 P.2d 1321 Colo. 1979).

Appellant further contends that in the instant case the legislative intent in the creation of the more serious crime of

aggravated robbery meets the legislator's penal objectives unless there are legislative indications to the contrary. Here, there was one criminal episode made up of a continuous flow of conduct with one objective sought. Therefore, where the imposition of a greater punishment is provided for in the greater offense, the statute is inclusive of the lesser. State v. Cloutier, 596 P.2d 1278 (Or. 1979).

## POINT II

WHERE ON THE FACE OF THE PLEADINGS, THE SAME COURSE OF CONDUCT IS ALLEGED FOR BOTH OFFENSES, IT IS PREJUDICIAL ERROR TO CHARGE BOTH THE GREATER AND THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES.

Section 76-1-402(3), U.C. Ann. (1953 as amended) provides that a defendant may be convicted of an included offense or the greater, but not both.

Reason dictates, that where a defendant may not be convicted and punished for both the greater and the lesser offense, it is unfair and prejudicial to charge both separately were on the fact of the pleadings the prosecution alleges the same conduct for both crimes.

In the instant case, count II of the Information, Aggravated Robbery, alleges in the statutory language the crime charged, and further that the defendant(s):

. . . took personal property in the possession of Richard Salomone, against his will, and in the course of committing said robbery, said defendant(s) used a firearm. . .

In count III, Theft, the Information alleges in the statutory language the crime charged, and further that the defendant(s):

. . . obtained and exercised unauthorized control over the property of Richard Salamone with the purpose to deprive the owner thereof, from the person of Richard Salamone and said defendant(s) were then and there armed with a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm. . . (emphasis added).

On the face of the Information the prosecution charged appellant with the greater and the lesser offenses. Proof of the allegations in count II of the Information would also have been proof of count III, as alleged.

Either count is inclusive of both counts, under either the "statutory theory" where one offense is the lesser under the statutory definition, or the "pleading theory," where an offense is an included offense if it is alleged in the Information as a means or element of the commission of the higher offense. See Section 76-1-102(3)(a), U.C. Ann. (1953 as amended); State v. Washington, 543 P.2d 1058, 1062 (Or. 1975); State v. Thompson, 614 P.2d 970 (Idaho 1980); People v. Lohbauer, 627 P.2d 183 (Cal. 1981).

The instant case illustrates the fairness to both the defendant and the prosecution of using the specific accusatory pleading as a yardstick for charging purposes. The prosecution may thereby anticipate that evidence at trial might develop in such a fashion that only the lesser included offense should be presented to the jury. Further, the defendant is put on notice that he should be prepared to defend against the allegations as made in the Information, including the lesser offense, People v. Marshall, 309 P.2d 456 (Cal. 1957).

Appellant contends that he was prejudiced in the instant case by "charge stacking." Several federal circuits have focused on the impropriety of charging both the lesser and the greater in different counts.

The Eighth Circuit in United States v. Howard, 507 P.2d 559 (8th Cir. 1974) held that not only was it improper to convict a defendant of both a major offense and a lesser included offense arising out of the same facts, but it was improper to charge the defendant with both crimes. To hold otherwise would result in "charge stacking" which would be prejudicial to the defendant.

In Drew v. United States, 331 P.2d 85 (D.C. Cir. 1964) defendant was charged with robbery and attempted robbery. The court set out the argument against the multiple charges faced by defendant. Referring to the defendant, the court stated that he may be prejudiced for one or more of the following reasons:

- (1) he may become embarrassed or confounded in presenting separate defenses;
- (2) the jury may use the evidence of one of the crimes charged to infer a criminal disposition on the part of the defendant from which is found his guilt of the other crime or crimes charged; or
- (3) the jury may cumulate the evidence of the various crimes charged and find guilt when, if considered separately, it would not so find. Id. at 88.

The court continued:

A less tangible, but perhaps equally persuasive element of prejudice may reside in a latent feeling of hostility engendered by the charging of several crimes as distinct from only one. Id. at 88.

The above arguments against multiple charges are of particular importance in the instant action. A jury may look

at the stacked charges and feel hostility or prejudice towards the defendant for a fictitious propensity to commit multiple offenses when clearly only aggravated robbery is really at issue. For this reason alone, the charge of the lesser included offense of aggravated assault should have been dropped and only the aggravated robbery charge pursued.

### POINT III

THE IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE FOR BOTH AGGRAVATED ROBBERY AND THEFT ARISING OUT OF A SINGLE CRIMINAL EPISODE WAS ERROR.

In the instant case, appellant has been sentenced and is presently serving time for both the greater and the lesser included offenses that he was charged with in separate counts.

Section 76-1-402(3) U.C. Ann. (1953 as amended) is dispositive of this issue. Farrow v. Smith, 541 P.2d 110F (Ut. 1975).

### CONCLUSION

For the above reasons appellant respectfully requests that his sentence be vacated and a new trial ordered on the charge of aggravated robbery, or in the alternative that the case be remanded for sentencing consistent with a conviction for the charge of aggravated robbery alone.