1983

State of Utah v. Wendell Irving Hill : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged with one count of Aggravated Burglary in violation of Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-203 (1978), one count of Aggravated Robbery in violation of Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-302 (1978), one count of Theft in violation of Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-404 (1978), one count of Aggravated Assault in violation of Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-103 (1978), and a second count of Aggravated Assault which was dismissed prior to the trial.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was tried before a jury and was found guilty of one count each of Aggravated Burglary, Aggravated Robbery, Theft, and Aggravated Assault on December 2 and 3, 1981 in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Christine M. Durham presiding. On December 16, 1981, the trial court sentenced appellant to two indeterminate terms of not less than five years which may be for life, one indeterminate term of not

less than one year nor more than fifteen years and one indeterminate term not to exceed five years, the sentences to run concurrently.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks a judgment and order of this Court affirming the jury verdict and sentence of the lower court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Late in the evening of October 7, 1981, or the early morning of October 8, 1981, Richard Salamone, manager of the Stratford Hotel, and John Savage, his guest, were watching television in the office of Salamone's apartment in the hotel (T. 41, 46). Salamone's living quarters were in Room 202 of the Stratford Hotel, connected to the adjoining manager's office in Room 201 by an open doorway (T. 38, 40). Both of the adjoining rooms had doors that opened to the hotel's hallway (T. 41).

As Mr. Salamone went into the kitchen in Room 202 to get a piece of pie, there was a knock on or shaking of the door to Room 201 (T. 43, 47, 108). Mr. Salamone opened the door to Room 202 and saw two men--appellant, Wendell Irving Hill, and Paul Miller (T. 44). Appellant and Miller forced their way into the apartment and appellant struck Mr. Salamone (T. 45, 46, 64, 97, 109). Appellant threatened Mr. Salamone and Mr. Savage with a "German Ruger" and told Mr. Salamone that he was going to kill him (T. 47, 51, 55, 65, 89-90, 99-100).

Appellant asked Mr. Salamone where the hotel's money was kept (T. 49). Mr. Salamone pointed to the desk in Room 201 (T. 49). Appellant and Miller took about \$50 from the drawer of the desk (T. 50-51, 86, 101). Later, appellant went through the drawer again and found more money, approximately \$20, which he took (T. 56). The two men also took a portable color-television, a clock radio, a short-wave radio, a cassette recorder and a pillowcase from Mr. Salamone's apartment (T. 59-60).

During the incident, Miller bound Mr. Salamone and Mr. Savage with nylon stockings and gagged them with washrags (T. 54-55, 85, 101). Appellant repeatedly threatened to kill Mr. Salamone and Mr. Savage (T. 51, 55-56, 99, 104, 107).

Appellant and Miller fled the scene in a Cadillac, but were apprehended approximately two and one-half blocks to three blocks from the Stratford Hotel (T. 57, 62, 104, 113, 117). The stolen television set was found in the front seat of the Cadillac and the other items taken from Mr. Salamone's apartment were found in the trunk of the car (T. 62, 119, 137-139). Seventeen dollars in one-dollar bills was found scattered in the trunk of the car (T. 140, 147). The gun with which appellant threatened Mr. Salamone and Mr. Savage fell out of the car onto the street when one of the apprehending officers opened the door to the front passenger seat of the car where appellant was sitting (T. 119-120, 123, 146-147).

Appellant was charged with Aggravated Burglary, Aggravated Robbery, Theft and two counts of Aggravated Assault (T. 13-14).

At trial, appellant successfully argued that an Aggravated Assault charge relating to Mr. Salamone should be dismissed because that crime was a lesser included offense of the crime of Aggravated Robbery of Mr. Salamone, as alleged in Count II of the Information.

Appellant also contended that because Theft, charged in Count III of the Information, was a lesser included offense of Aggravated Robbery, charged in Count II of the Information, Count III of the Information should be dismissed. The court denied appellant's motion and found that the offenses of Theft and Aggravated Robbery, as charged in the Information, were separate offenses (T. 199).

On appeal, appellant contends that the trial court erred in failing to find as a matter of law that theft is a lesser included offense of aggravated robbery. Appellant does not challenge his convictions on other counts.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THEFT IS NOT A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF AGGRAVATED ROBBERY.

The question presented in this appeal is whether the crime of theft is a lesser included offense of the crime of

aggravated robbery. The standard for determining when an offense is a lesser included offense of another is codified in Utah Code Ann., § 76-1-402(3) (1953), as amended, which provides:

- (3) A defendant may be convicted of an offense included in the offense charged but may not be convicted of both the offense charged and the included offense. An offense is so included when:
- (a) It is established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to establish the commission of the offense charged; or
 - (b) It constitutes an attempt, solicitation, conspiracy, or form of preparation to commit the offense charged or an offense otherwise included therein; or
 - (c) It is specifically designated by statute as a lesser included offense.

In State v. Brennan, 13 Utah 2d 195, 371 P.2d 27, 29 (1962) this Court set forth the requirements of an included offense as follows:

The rule as to when one offense is included in another is that the greater offense includes a lesser one when establishment of the greater would necessarily include proof of all the elements necessary to prove the lesser. Conversely, it is only when proof of the lesser offense requires some element not involved in the greater offense that the lesser would not be an included offense [Footnote omitted].

See also: State v. Cross, Utah, 649 P.2d 72 (1982); State v. Elliott, Utah, 641 P.2d 122 (1982); State v. Williams, Utah,

636 P.2d 1092 (1981); State v. Laine, Utah, 618 P.2d 33 (1980); State v. Gandee, Utah, 587 P.2d 1064 (1978); State v. Woolman, 84 Utah 23, 33 P.2d 640 (1934). The determination of whether the lesser offense of theft is included within the offense of aggravated robbery requires an examination of the respective elements of those offenses.

The jury was instructed that the statutory elements of aggravated robbery, Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-302 (1953), as amended, were:

INSTRUCTION NO. 18 (T. 79)

The defendant is charged by Count II of the Information in this case with a violation of the statute which provides, in part pertinent to this case, as follows:

". . . a person commits Aggravated Robbery if in the course of committing robbery, he . . . uses a firearm or facsimile of a firearm . . . or a deadly weapon . . ."

* * *

". . . for the purpose of this part, an act shall be deemed to be in the course of committing a robbery if it occurs in an attempt to commit, during the commission of, or the immediate flight after the attempt or commission of a robbery"
(Emphasis added).

See also: Jury Instruction No. 31 (T. 92). The jury was instructed that the statutory elements of robbery, Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-301 (1953), as amended, were:

INSTRUCTION NO. 20 (T. 81)

The elements of Robbery, as they relate to this case, are;

1. The taking of personal property from another person; and
2. The possession or immediate presence of such other person of said property; and
3. The taking of such property against the will of such other person; and
4. The accomplishment of such taking by such means of force and fear; and
5. Such taking being then and there unlawful;
6. Such taking being then and there intended.

See also: Jury Instruction No. 19 (T. 80). The jury was instructed that the statutory elements of theft, Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-404 (1953), as amended, were:

INSTRUCTION NO. 23 (T. 84)

The defendant is charged by Count III of the Information in this case with a violation of a statute which provides, in part pertinent to this case, as follows: "A person commits theft if he obtains or exercises unlawful control over the property of another with the purpose to deprive him thereof" (Emphasis added).

See also: Jury Instruction No. 32 (T. 93). Jury Instruction No. 25 (T. 86) defined "purpose to deprive":

. . .

The same statute defines "purpose to deprive" to mean . . . "to have the conscious object: [either] to withhold property permanently or for so extended a period . . . that a substantial portion of its economic value, or of the use and benefit thereof, would be lost; or to dispose of the property under circumstances that make it unlikely that the owner will recover it" [Brackets in original; emphasis added].

The elements required for proof of aggravated robbery that are not required for proof of theft are, first, that the person was "in the course of committing robbery," § 76-6-302(1)(a); and second, that the taking is accomplished by means of force or fear, § 76-6-301(1).

The elements required for proof of theft that are not required for proof of aggravated robbery are less easily ascertained at first glance. Although confusing, the transcript does provide some insight into the trial court's basis for holding that theft requires an element additional to those that are required for aggravated robbery. The State's position at trial was that the element of "obtain[ing] . . . control . . . with the purpose to deprive" (§ 76-6-404) was an essential element of theft, State v. Laine, supra, at 359, but not an essential element of aggravated robbery, State In the Interest of R.G.B., Utah, 597 P.2d 1333, 1335 (1979). The trial court recognized that the additional element in theft that is not an element of aggravated robbery is the obtaining control with the purpose to deprive (T. 26, 29, 192).

The "purpose to deprive" required by the theft statute is a more specific kind of intent which goes beyond that required for aggravated robbery. An "intentional taking" is required by § 76-6-301, the robbery statute.

"Intentionally" is defined in Utah Code Ann., § 76-2-103(1)

(1953), as amended, as:

A person engages in conduct:

(1) Intentionally, or with intent or wilfully with respect to the nature of his conduct or to a result of his conduct, when it is his conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct or cause the result.

See also: Jury Instruction No. 28 (T. 89). Theft, however, requires that the taking be with the "purpose to deprive," which is defined in Utah Code Ann., § 76-6-401(3) (1953), as amended, as:

(e) "Purpose to deprive" means to have the conscious object:

(a) To withhold property permanently or for so extended a period or to use under such circumstances that a substantial portion of its economic value, or of the use and benefit thereof, would be lost; or
(b) To restore the property only upon payment of a reward or other compensation [this subsection was not included in the Jury Instructions in this case]; or
(c) To dispose of the property under circumstances that make it unlikely that the owner will recover it.

See also: Jury Instruction No. 25 at p. 7 above. The "purpose to deprive" is a culpable mental state required as an essential element of the crime of theft which is by definition more specific than the intentional, knowing or reckless mental state generally required by the Criminal Code. State v. Laine, supra. It is an element of theft which is required in

addition to proof that the person acted intentionally, knowingly or recklessly (See Jury Instruction No. 32, T. 93). The "purpose to deprive" is not, however, an element of aggravated robbery, and it is not "embraced within the legal definition thereof." State v. Sunter, Utah, 550 P.2d 184, 185 (1976). Thus, theft cannot be a lesser included offense of robbery.

The trial court noted an additional distinction which is pertinent to this case:

THE COURT: . . . [T]he court finds that the offenses of theft and aggravated robbery are separate offenses as defined by the legislature in the statutes of the State of Utah. And I want to make it clear that I am being asked to find that theft is a lesser included not of robbery, but of aggravated robbery, because I think that is an important distinction (T. 199).

The distinction between robbery and aggravated robbery referred to in the foregoing excerpt takes its importance from the fact that an intentional taking of personal property in the possession of another need not be proved for aggravated robbery (see the trial court's comments at T. 195, line 27 through T. 196, line 1). This is because, for the purposes of § 76-6-302, the completed act of robbery is not required; an attempt to commit robbery is sufficient. Section 76-6-302 states in pertinent part:

(1) A person commits aggravated robbery if in the course of committing a robbery, he:
. . .

(3) For the purposes of this part, an act shall be deemed to be "in the course of committing a robbery" if it occurs in an attempt to commit, during the commission of, or in the immediate flight after the attempt or commission of the robbery (Emphasis added).

Under Utah Code Ann., § 76-4-101(1) (1953), as amended, a person is guilty of an attempt if:

. . . [A]cting with the kind of culpability otherwise required for the commission of the offense, he engages in conduct constituting a substantial step toward commission of the offense.

Thus, while an "unlawful and intentional taking . . ." is required for robbery, under the attempt theory provided in the aggravated robbery statute, no actual taking of property need be proved to make out aggravated robbery. Theft does require a taking, specifically that the person "obtain or exercise control . . . with the purpose to deprive," and therefore requires an element which is not required for aggravated robbery when aggravated robbery is proved through the use of the attempt theory. The result is that theft is not necessarily and always a lesser included offense of aggravated robbery. In State v. Williams, supra, at 1096, (1981), this Court adopted the following language from People v. Escarcega, 43 Cal. App. 391, 117 Cal. Rptr. 595 (1974):

It is of no consequence that the evidence at trial might also establish guilt of another and lesser crime than that charged. As indicated, to constitute a "lesser and necessarily included offense" it must be of such a nature that as a matter of law and considered in the abstract, the greater crime as defined by statute or charged in the accusatory pleading "cannot be committed without necessarily committing [such other] offense." This rule has been constantly reiterated. . . . The lesser offense must "necessarily and at all times [be] included within another one." . . . "If, in the commission of acts made unlawful by one statute, the offender must always violate another, the one offense [i.e., the latter] is necessarily included in the other" [Citations omitted; emphasis and bracketed language in original].

See also: State v. Gandee, supra. Because it is possible to commit aggravated robbery without also committing theft, theft is not a lesser included offense of aggravated robbery. Thus, appellant was properly charged and convicted of both theft and aggravated robbery.

POINT II

AGGRAVATED ASSAULT IS NOT A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF AGGRAVATED ROBBERY AS THOSE CRIMES WERE CHARGED IN THIS CASE.

Appellant makes the statement on page 10 of his brief that:

. . . the charge of the lesser included offense of aggravated assault should have been dropped and only the aggravated robbery charge should have been pursued.